IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED SID J. WHITE MAY 10 1996

OLERK, SUPREME COURT

Crist Deputy Serk

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner/Crossrespondent,

v.

ANTONIO L. CRAFT,

Respondent/Cross-petitioner.

CASE NO. 87,545

PETITIONER/CROSS-RESPONDENT'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH

JAMES W. ROGERS
BUREAU CHIEF
TALLAHASSEE CRIMINAL APPEALS
FLORIDA BAR NO. 0325791

VINCENT ALTIERI ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0051918

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER/ CROSS-RESPONDENT

TABLE OF CITATIONS

CASES	PAGE(S)
A.J.H. v. State, 652 So. 2d 1279 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995)	2,14

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, the State of Florida, the prosecution and Appellee below, will be referred to as "the State." Respondent, Antonio Lee Craft, the defendant and Appellant below, will be referred to as "Respondent." The record on appeal will be referred to by the symbol "R," followed by the appropriate page number(s).

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has jurisdiction to review the instant case pursuant to article V, section 3(b)(4) of the Florida Constitution.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On January 18, 1995, Respondent was adjudiciated guilty and sentenced on convictions for first degree murder, and possession of a concealed firearm. (R 337-40). On February 1, 1995, Respondent was also adjudicated guilty and sentenced for possession of a firearm by convicted felon. (R 373-77). Respondent appealed, among other things, his convictions and sentences for carrying a concealed firearm and possession of a firearm by a convicted felon based on double jeopardy grounds. (Respondent's initial brief below at 43-45). The State argued, with respect to his convictions, that Respondent waived this issue because he failed to

raise the issue of multiple convictions based on one firearm before the trial court, although he could raise the issue of multiple sentences for the first time on appeal. (State's answer brief below (SAB) at 24). In addition, the State argued, with respect to both his convictions and sentences, that they were not barred by double jeopardy because of the Florida legislature's clear intent to allow multiple convictions and punishments based on one act, and because of a successful application of the <u>Blockburger</u> test. (SAB The First District, without discussing the State's 24-31). preservation argument, vacated the conviction for carrying a concealed firearm based on its recent decision in Brown v. State, 21 Fla. L. Weekly D10 (Fla. 1st DCA Dec. 18, 1995). Craft v. <u>State</u>, 21 Fla. L. Weekly D593 (Fla. 1st DCA Mar. 5, 1996). Brown, supra, the First District vacated two of three firearm convictions based on double jeopardy grounds, pursuant to A.J.H. v. State, infra, and State v. Stearns, infra. However, the court certified the following question:

WHEN A DEFENDANT COMMITS SEPARATE OFFENSES DURING THE SAME CRIMINAL EPISODE, EACH INVOLVING A FIREARM, BUT EACH HAVING SEPARATE AND DISTINCT ELEMENTS, MAY THE DEFENDANT BE CONVICTED AND SENTENCED FOR EACH CRIME?

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Respondent failed to preserve the issue of multiple firearm convictions; thus, his vacated conviction must be reinstated. Respondent's two convictions and sentences based on his possession of one firearm did not violate double jeopardy because the legislature clearly specified its intent that multiple convictions may arise out of one act. The convictions are also valid because the statutory requirements of each offense includes a unique element. Finally, this Court's decisions in State v. Brown, infra, and State v. Stearns, infra, are not dispositive of the instant case. Accordingly, Respondent's double jeopardy protections were not violated; thus, the conviction and sentence reversed by the district court must be reinstated.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE

WHEN A DEFENDANT COMMITS SEPARATE OFFENSES DURING THE SAME CRIMINAL EPISODE, EACH INVOLVING A FIREARM, BUT EACH HAVING SEPARATE AND DISTINCT ELEMENTS, MAY THE DEFENDANT BE CONVICTED AND SENTENCED FOR EACH CRIME?

Respondent failed to preserve the issue of multiple firearm convictions; thus, his vacated conviction must be reinstated. Respondent's two convictions and sentences based on his possession of one firearm did not violate double jeopardy because the legislature clearly specified its intent that multiple convictions may arise out of one act. The convictions are also valid because the statutory requirements of each offense includes a unique element. Finally, this Court's decisions in State v. Brown, infra, and State v. Brown, infra, are not dispositive of the instant case. Accordingly, Respondent's double jeopardy protections were not violated; thus, the conviction and sentence reversed by the district court must be reinstated.

Respondent waived the issue of multiple <u>convictions</u> arising out of his possession of one firearm because he did not advance arguments thereon to the trial court, although the legality of multiple <u>sentences</u> may be raised for the first time on appeal.

Perrin v. State, 599 So. 2d 1365 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992); see (SAB 24)¹. Because Respondent failed to raise this issue before the trial court, it was improperly before the First District, and now this Court. Accordingly, the First District should not have reached this issue with respect to Respondent's convictions; thus, his conviction for carrying a concealed firearm should not have been vacated. Thus, this Court must reinstate Respondent's vacated conviction for lack of preservation.

Even if this Court reviews the merits of this case, this Court will find that Respondent's convictions and sentences did not violate double jeopardy. This double jeopardy issue requires a determination of law. Thus, the standard of review is de novo. Philip J. Padovano, Florida Appellate Practice § 5.4B, at 32 (1994 Supp.).

1. The Florida Legislature clearly intends that cumulative convictions and sentences may be imposed based on one act; thus, Respondent's cumulative convictions and sentences did not violate double jeopardy.

Clearly specified legislative intent controls the determination of whether a single act may result in multiple convictions without

¹ Respondent did not contest the State's preservation argument in its Reply Brief below. (Reply Brief 13).

violating double jeopardy. Ohio v. Johnson, 467 U.S. 493, 499, 104 S. Ct. 2536, 2541, 81 L. Ed. 2d 425 (1984); State v. Smith, 547 So. 2d 613, 616 (Fla. 1989). In Missouri v. Hunter, 459 U.S. 359, 103 S. Ct. 673, 74 L. Ed. 2d (1983), the United States Supreme Court held that when a legislature specifically authorizes cumulative punishments under two statutes for the same act, the trial court may impose cumulative punishments. Id. at 368-369. Cumulative punishments, based on legislative intent, do not violate double jeopardy even if the offenses fail the Blockburger test. States v. Moore, 43 F. 3d 568, 573 (11th Cir. 1995). E.g., United States v. Johnson, 32 F. 3d 82 (4th Cir. 1994) (convictions for carjacking with firearm and use or carrying of firearm during violent crime do not violate double jeopardy because of clear legislative intent, despite <u>Blockburger</u> failure); <u>United States v.</u> <u>Singeton</u>, 16 F. 3d 1419 (5th Cir. 1994)(same); <u>United States v.</u> Sabini, 842 F. Supp. 1448 (S.D. Fla. 1994), affirmed, 48 F. 3d 536 (11th Cir. 1995) (Table). Adherence to legislative intent is based on the separation of powers doctrine, upon which this Court demands

² <u>Blockburger v. United States</u>, 284 U.S. 299, 304, 52 S. Ct. 180, 182, 76 L. Ed. 306 (1932) (holding that to determine whether one act can result in multiple convictions, the offense statutes must be compared to determine "whether each [statute] requires proof of an additional fact which the other does not.").

unequivocal adherence. B.H. v. State, 645 So. 2d 987, 991 (Fla. 1994) (stating "without exception[,] . . . Florida's Constitution absolutely requires a 'strict' separation of powers"). Judges should only determine whether laws satisfy constitutional limits, and should not substitute their personal beliefs for the judgment of legislators, who are elected to pass laws. Kahn v. Shevin, 416 U.S. 351, 356 n.10, 94 S. Ct. 1734, 1737 n.10, 40 L. Ed. 2d 189 (1974); Sirmons v. State, 634 So. 2d 153, 156 (Fla. 1994) ("This it Court's obligation is to apply the statute as is Thus, this written.")(Grimes, J., dissenting). Court must determine whether the Florida legislature specified its intent that multiple firearm convictions may arise out of one act of possession.

Applying the above rules of law to the facts in the instant case, it is clear that Respondent's multiple firearm convictions and sentences did not violate double jeopardy. The Florida Statutes clearly provide that "[w]hoever, in the course of one criminal transaction or episode, commits an act or acts which constitute one or more separate criminal offenses, upon conviction and adjudication of guilt, shall be sentenced separately for each criminal offenses. . . . " § 775.021(4)(a), Fla. Stat. (1993). The statutes also provide that "[t]he intent of the Legislature is to

convict and sentence for each criminal offense committed in the course of one criminal episode or transaction and not to [apply] the [rule] of lenity" § 775.021(4)(b), Fla. Stat. (1993). This Court cannot substitute its beliefs for the legislative intent clearly specified in section 775.021. Accordingly, the legislature clearly specified its intent that Respondent may be convicted of each offense based on one act, without violating double jeopardy. Smith, supra at 616. Thus, Respondent's convictions did not violate double jeopardy.

2. Respondent's cumulative convictions and sentences satisfied Blockburger; thus, they did not violate double jeopardy.

This Court held that "offenses are separate, allowing for conviction and punishment for each, if a comparison of the statutory elements, without regard to the facts . . ., reveals that each offense requires proof of an element that the other does not[,]" where the legislature has not clearly specified its intent to allow multiple convictions based on one act. State v. Henriquez, 485 So. 2d 414, 415-16 (Fla. 1986); Smith, supra at 616; see § 775.021(4)(a), Fla. Stat. (1993) ("offenses are separate if each offense requires proof of an element that the other does not . . . ") (codification of Blockburger, supra, as exception to

general rule). Satisfaction of the above test shows that the legislature clearly intended separate convictions and punishments. Henriquez, supra at 416. This test is satisfied despite any overlap in elements between the offenses. Moore, 43 F. 3d at 571; see, e.g., Skeens v. State, 556 So. 2d 1113-14 (Fla. 1990) (holding that convictions for carrying concealed firearm and possession of firearm by felon, arising out of same act, did not violate double jeopardy because each had unique element). Thus, this Court must determine, in the absence of clearly stated legislative intent, whether the Blockburger test allows multiple firearm convictions and sentences based on possession of one firearm.

Turning to the facts in the instant case, it is clear that the trial court properly adjudicated Respondent guilty and sentenced him based on the two offenses because each offense contains a unique element. The offenses are: carrying a concealed firearm, § 790.01(2), Fla. Stat. (1993) ("whoever shall carry a concealed firearm on or about his person shall be guilty of a felony of the third degree . . . "), and possession of a firearm by a convicted felon, § 790.23, Fla. Stat. (1993) ("It is unlawful for any person who has been convicted of a felony in the courts of this state . . . to own . . . or control any firearm"). (R 337-40, 370-71). The offenses are different because they each have at least

one unique element, even though both of them are similar in that they each have a common firearm element. Section 790.01(2) requires that the weapon be "concealed," and section 790.23 requires that the accused in possession of the firearm previously have been "convicted of a felony." Accordingly, if this Court conducts the analysis required by statute and case law alike, it must find that each offense has unique elements; consequently, convictions for each offense arising out of the same transaction does not violate double jeopardy, despite the overlapping firearm elements. Skeens, supra; Moore, supra. Thus, Respondent's two convictions and sentences did not violate double jeopardy.

Federal application of <u>Blockburger</u> clearly allows multiple firearm convictions based on possession of one firearm. E.g., <u>United States v. Haggerty</u>, 4 F. 3d 901, 904 (10th Cir. 1993) (holding convictions for reckless handling of firearm and possession of firearm by felon, based on one episode, proper because they involved different crimes); <u>Johnson v. Howard</u>, 963 F. 2d 342, 346 (11th Cir. 1992) (holding <u>Blockburger</u> allowed

³ The double jeopardy clause of the Florida Constitution mirrors the same clause in the United States Constitution. <u>See</u> U.S. Const. Amend. V; Art. I, § 9, Fla. Const.; <u>Carawan v. State</u>, 515 So. 2d 161, 164 (Fla. 1987), <u>superseded by statute</u>, <u>Smith</u> 547 So. 2d at 613.

convictions for carrying pistol without license and possession of pistol after conviction for crime of violence based on possession of one pistol); United States v. Karlin, 852 F. 2d 968, 974 (7th Cir. 1988); United States v. Ouimette, 798 F. 2d 47, 50 (2d Cir. 1986); United States v. Stewart, 780 F. Supp. 1366, 1369 n.8 (N.D. Fla. 1991). Accordingly, under federal interpretation of Blockburger, a defendant may be convicted of multiple firearm offenses based on one episode. Thus, Respondent's convictions and sentences did not violate double jeopardy.

3. This Court's decisions in <u>State v. Brown</u>, <u>infra</u>, and <u>State v. Stearns</u>, <u>infra</u>, do not support the contention that Respondent's three firearm convictions and sentences violate double jeopardy.

An application of State v. Brown, 633 So. 2d 1059, 1060-61 (Fla. 1994), does not forbid Respondent's two firearm convictions on double jeopardy grounds. In Brown, the jury convicted the defendant of four offenses arising out of one episode: (1) armed robbery; (2) attempted first-degree murder; (3) use of a firearm in the commission of a felony; and (4) shooting into a building. Id. at 1060. On appeal, the First District reversed the defendant's conviction for use of a firearm in the commission of a felony, holding that the defendant could not be convicted of possession of a firearm during the commission of a felony when he also received

an enhanced sentence for carrying a firearm during the commission of a robbery, where both crimes took place in one criminal episode.

Id. The district court stated that:

The Legislature expressed its specific intent concerning separate convictions and sentences for two crimes committed during the same criminal transaction by the by the passage of . . . section 775.021(4)(b), Florida Statutes[.] The court stated in <u>Smith</u>, that 'absent a statutory degree crime or a contrary clear and specific statement of legislative intent . . all criminal offenses containing unique statutory elements shall be separately punished and, thus, section 775.021(4)(a), Florida Statutes, should be strictly applied without judicial gloss.

Brown v. State, 617 So. 2d 744, 746 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993), approved, 633 So. 2d 1059 (Fla. 1994). However, the district court found that there was no distinction in the statutory elements of armed robbery and use of a firearm in the commission of a felony. 617 So. 2d at 747. Accepting this conclusion as valid, the district court's decision was proper because it was necessary to read the charging instrument to determine whether the possession of a firearm charge stemmed from the robbery or another offense. Because statutory offenses should be distinguishable just by comparing the statutory elements alone, defendant's conviction of both violated double jeopardy. See, e.g., Johnson, supra at 85 (holding that carjacking with a firearm and use or carrying of

firearm during crime of violence failed <u>Blockburger</u> because of impossibility of use or carrying firearm and not, at same time, possessing it); <u>Singleton</u>, <u>supra</u> at 1423-25 (same). In contrast, in the instant case it is clear, just by reading the statutory elements of Respondent's offenses, that there are unique elements in each offense that are dispositive of a double jeopardy claim.

<u>See supra</u>. Thus, the trial court properly convicted and sentenced Respondent of the instant offenses.

Furthermore, State v. Stearns, 645 So. 2d 417, 418 (Fla. 1994), is not dispositive of the instant case for the same reason. In Stearns, the defendant was convicted of: (1) burglary of a structure while armed; (2) grand theft; and (3) carrying a concealed weapon while committing a felony. Stearns v. State 626 So. 2d 254, 255 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993). The issue on appeal was "whether a defendant, who commits an armed burglary of a structure and grand theft of property found therein, can also be convicted of carrying a concealed weapon while committing a felony." Id. The district court held that the defendant could not, and reversed his conviction for carrying a concealed weapon while committing a felony. Id. On review, this Court approved of the district court's decision, and expressly relied on its recent decision in Brown and, therefore, the First District's analysis below. State

v. Stearns, 645 So. 2d 417 (Fla. 1994). However, even if the Brown analysis is applied to the convictions in the instant case, this Court must find that there are unique elements in each offense, thereby allowing Respondent's multiple firearm convictions. See supra. Accordingly, Brown and Stearns are inapposite to the instant case. Thus, Respondent's convictions and sentences for all three firearm offenses, based on the possession of one firearm, did not violate double jeopardy.

Finally, these two cases were the basis for the First District's decision in A.J.H. v. State, 652 So. 2d 1279 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995), upon which Respondent relied below. In A.J.H., the defendant was convicted of unlawful possession of a firearm by a minor, carrying a concealed firearm, and possession of a firearm by one found guilty of a delinquent act that would have been a felony if committed by an adult. Id. Instead of comparing the offenses for unique elements (i.e., "minor," "concealed," and delinquent act same as adult felony), the First District turned the analysis on its head and focused on the similarity of the firearm element of each offense and reversed the first two convictions. Id. Thus, the court ignored what was unique and, instead, singled out what was common, thereby avoiding the logical finding that the crimes were indeed separate because of their unique elements. Skeens,

supra. Accordingly, A.J.H. is not dispositive of Respondent's two convictions and sentences. Thus, Respondent's convictions and sentences did not violate double jeopardy.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing discussions, the State respectfully requests that this Honorable Court reverse the First District's decision to vacate Respondent's conviction for carrying a concealed firearm, and remand the case to the trial court for reinstatement of that conviction and sentence.