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

accompanied the officers to her home and had permitted the search. Not so in the instant case. Even though Craft's mother allowed the officers to search her laundry room, she denied them access to the garbage can.

In <u>Gonzalez v. State</u>, 578 So. 2d 729 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1991), the police went to the defendant's home and asked his wife if they could talk to her. She let them in and they did a brief room-to-room protective sweep. They then had her sign a consent to search form. The trial judge found the consent to be valid.

On appeal, however, the court disagreed and held that her consent was not voluntary because the police had already demonstrated that they could search her house without a warrant and without consent. In the instant case, detective Sanderson had already lifted the lid of the trash can when detective Hall suggested they had better get Ms. Craft's consent to search it, so it is reasonable to infer from the record and from Ms. Craft's comments that she, just like Ms. Gonzalez, believed she did not have the right to refuse to consent.

The police cannot create their own exigent circumstances and use consent as a substitute for a warrant. Soldo v. State, 583 So. 2d 1080 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1991).

It must be remembered that the search of the garbage can occurred on January 15 at 2:30 p.m., after Craft had been taken

into custody and after the police had been to the house at 12:25 p.m., looking for Craft's bloody clothes in the laundry room. There is no reason why the police could not have obtained a search warrant for the house and its curtilage, including the garbage can, when they found no bloody clothes two hours earlier, but where they had information, probably from Ms. Peart, that Craft's clothes were bloody when he returned her car on the night of the murder.

For all of these reasons, Craft's mother's consent to search the garbage can was not voluntary. The evidence seized therefrom should have been suppressed.

# ISSUE III THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING CRAFT'S MOTION FOR THE APPOINTMENT OF NEW COUNSEL.

This Court has jurisdiction to reverse other issues when it accepts review of a certified question. Feller v. State, supra. The lower tribunal agreed that the lower court's inquiry into Craft's complaints about his lawyer did not go far enough, but held that the error was harmless:

[W]hile we find that the trial court erred in failing to inform the defendant as to his right of self representation after hearing defendant's motion to discharge counsel based on incompetence (see Bodiford v. State, 21 Fla. L. Weekly D9 (Fla. 1st DCA Dec. 18, 1995)), we find that such an error was harmless in light of the overwhelming evidence of guilt and the later representations by defendant's

counsel in defendant's presence that he did not desire to represent himself. See Parker v. State, 570 So. 2d 1053 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990), rev. denied, 581 So. 2d 1309 (Fla. 1991).

The lower tribunal used the wrong test for harmless error.

It is Craft's position that the error can never be harmless,
because we cannot know what effect the failure if the judge
to fully inquire into Craft's complaints against his lawyer
had on his lawyer's performance.

Craft filed a motion for the appointment of new counsel on October 4, 1994, alleging that his assistant public defender was not representing him properly (R 303-305).

A hearing was held on this motion on October 10, 1994. The court asked Craft and his counsel about the allegation that counsel had declined to call three defense witnesses (R 396-400); the allegation that counsel had told Craft he would be found guilty (R 400-402); the allegation that counsel had made insufficient arguments at the suppression hearing (R 402-404); and the allegation that Craft was filing a complaint with the Florida Bar (R 404-407).

At the conclusion of the hearing, the court found:

Okay. Let's take as to the defendant's motion for appointment of a new trial counsel, that the allegations made are legally insufficient and are without merit, and the defendant's pro se motion will be denied. That means, sir, that the Public Defender's Office will continue to represent you on this charge.

(R 407).

The lower court's inquiry into Craft's complaints about his lawyer did not go far enough. Although the court heard from Craft and counsel and found no grounds to discharge counsel, the law requires the judge to take another step -- he must advise the defendant that if he discharges counsel, he may be required to represent himself.4

At the beginning of the trial on the first degree murder, armed robbery, and carrying a concealed firearm, Craft stated he did not wish to proceed to trial with Mr. France, but the court said he would, and referred back to the previous hearing (T 1-2). Craft declined to participate in part of jury selection (T 11-17).

The seminal case in this area is <u>Nelson v. State</u>, 274 So. 2d 256 (Fla. 4th DCA 1973), and <u>Nelson</u> does not hold that the failure to make a complete inquiry can be harmless error.

A. THE LOWER TRIBUNAL USED THE WRONG TEST FOR HARMLESS ERROR.

The lower tribunal held in the instant opinion that the error "was harmless in light of the overwhelming evidence of quilt." This is not the test for harmless error. The proper

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>The state argued below that Craft had not expressed enough discomfort about his lawyer's effectiveness to even require an inquiry. The lower tribunal's citation to <u>Bodiford v. State</u>, 665 So. 2d 315 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995), indicates that it rejected the state's argument.

test is stated in <u>State v. Diguilio</u>, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986):

The harmless error test, as set forth in Chapman [v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 87 S.Ct. 824, 17 L.Ed.2d 705 (1967)] and progeny, places the burden on the state, as the beneficiary of the error, to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict or, alternatively stated, that there is no reasonable possibility that the error contributed to the conviction. See Chapman, 386 U.S. at 24, 87 S.Ct. at 828.

The test is not a sufficiency-of-theevidence, a correct result, a not clearly wrong, a substantial evidence, a more probable than not, a clear and convincing, or even an overwhelming evidence test. Harmless error is not a device for the appellate court to substitute itself for the trier-of-fact by simply weighing the evidence. focus is on the effect of the error on the trier-of-fact. The question is whether there is a reasonable possibility that the error affected the verdict. burden to show the error was harmless must remain on the state. If the appellate court cannot say beyond a reasonable doubt that the error did not affect the verdict, then the error is by definition harmful.

491 So. 2d at 1135, 1139; emphasis added.

### B. THE ERROR CANNOT BE HARMLESS.

Craft's position is that the error could never be harmless, because it is impossible to determine whether appellant was prejudiced by the failure to conduct a complete inquiry into counsel's performance. If counsel was in fact

incompetent, the validity of the entire proceeding was thrown into doubt, and no one can say if the outcome would have been different if he had been provided competent counsel.

In addition, the lower tribunal has created conflict with Graves v. State, 642 So. 2d 142 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994).

There the defendant, much like Craft, filed a pro se motion to discharge his attorney before trial. The judge refused to hear the motion. The court rejected the state's argument that the error was harmless in light of the overwhelming evidence of guilt:

We reject the state's assertion that we should find this failure to hold a Nelson inquiry harmless error. Yes, it does appear that the evidence against defendant was, in the state's word, "overwhelming". But trial counsel himself sought a last minute continuance on the grounds that his conference with the defendant on the night before trial began disclosed the existence of a witness to the event, an employee of the state correctional institution, and that counsel needed the additional time to interview the witness and prepare for trial.

We thus cannot say beyond a reasonable doubt that the immensity of the trial evidence of guilt was not the result of the very thing about which defendant complained in his pretrial motion to discharge counsel. In this sense, we simply disagree with any suggestion in Parker v. State, 570 So.2d 1053 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990), rev. denied, 581 So.2d 1309 (Fla. 1991), and Kott v. State, 518 So.2d 957 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988), that a one-sided presentation of evidence

of guilt by the state will save the failure to inquire if counsel was deficient in pretrial preparations.

642 So. 2d at 144; emphasis added.

In addition, the lower tribunal has created conflict with <u>Burgos v. State</u>, 667 So. 2d 1030 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1996). There the defendant, much like Craft, filed three pro se motions to discharge his attorney before trial. The judge never held an adequate <u>Nelson</u> hearing on any of them. The Second District held the error could not be harmless.

C. CRAFT DID NOT ACQUIESCE TO THE ERROR.

The lower tribunal also relied upon "later representations by defendant's counsel in defendant's presence that he did not desire to represent himself."

There are two problems with the court's reliance on counsel's statement: Craft's silence cannot be construed as a waiver of his constitutional right to represent himself; and the court failed to consider that Craft had tried to express his displeasure with his attorney twice after the Nelson hearing on October 4, 1994.

The statement to which the court referred occurred at the beginning of testimony in the murder trial, two months later. In the interim, at the beginning of voir dire of the trial on the first degree murder, armed robbery, and carrying a concealed firearm, Craft stated he did not wish to proceed

to trial with Mr. France, but the court said he would, and referred back to the previous Nelson hearing (T 1-2). Craft declined to participate in part of jury selection (T 11-17). The judge believed he had made an adequate inquiry two months earlier, and made no inquiry into appellant's position at trial. Moreover, Craft's request to be co-counsel at trial (T 199-200) was given no consideration at all by the judge. It was summarily denied by the judge as a legal impossibility; the prosecutor, the judge, and defense counsel discussed the matter, with absolutely no input from Craft; and it could have been viewed as a last-ditch attempt by Craft to again voice his complaints to the judge in the only manner available to him.

Even though counsel informed the judge that Craft did not wish to represent himself, no one ever asked Craft if that was true. We cannot view Craft's actions as a repudiation of the desire to represent himself, because Craft was never fully advised of that option. Moreover, we cannot infer a waiver of that constitutional right from a silent record. Barker v. Wingo, 407 U.S. 514, 92 S.Ct. 2182, 33 L.Ed.2d 101 (1972). Craft, not being trained in courtroom procedure, brought the matter to the court's attention in the only ways he knew how -- by declining to participate in jury selection and by asking to be co-counsel. Once the judge was

placed on notice that Craft was still not satisfied with his attorney, he should have reopened the <u>Nelson</u> inquiry on both occasions at trial.

Thus, the lower tribunal's position that the error was harmless or somehow waived is erroneous. Craft urges this Court to approve <u>Graves</u>, supra, overrule <u>Parker v. State</u>, 570 So.2d 1053 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990), rev. denied, 581 So.2d 1309 (Fla. 1991), and hold that the failure to conduct a complete <u>Nelson</u> inquiry cannot be harmless error.

#### ISSUE IV

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING THE HOMICIDE TO BECOME A FEATURE OF THE TRIAL FOR POSSESSION OF A FIREARM BY A CONVICTED FELON.

This Court has jurisdiction to reverse other issues when it accepts review of a certified question. Feller v. State, supra, even though the lower tribunal found no merit to it.

Prior to the separate trial on the charge of possession of a firearm by a convicted felon, Craft asked that the state be prohibited from presenting any evidence about the murder (F 4). The prosecutor stated she would not go into any great detail about the murder, but the evidence that the victim had been shot was relevant to prove the charge (F 4-5). The judge stated Craft's statements would say that the man had been killed, and he did not see how the firearm charge could be isolated, but he offered to inform the jury that this was

the only charge for which Craft was on trial (F 5).

The state could have proven the firearm charge with four witnesses and less than 30 pages of testimony --

(1) Ms. Peart, who saw Craft with the gun before she loaned him her car (F 33-41); (2) Sharon Flowers, the clerk of the court with the prior judgments and sentences (F 58-64); (3) Janice Johnson, who rolled Craft's fingerprints (F 67-69); and (4) Charles Richards, the expert who found Craft's fingerprints on the prior judgment and sentences (F 69-74).

In addition to these four witnesses, the state brought forth almost all of the important witnesses from the homicide trial and re-tried the homicide in the firearm case -- (1) Pensacola police officer Betts, who described finding the murder victim in the park (F 18-20); (2) Crime scene technician West, who described finding the .25 caliber cartridge on the path in the park, the jacket hanging in the tree, and another cartridge later with the aid of a metal detector (F 21-25); (3) Adrian Hardaway, the victim's cousin, who identified the murder victim's jacket (F 26-27); (4) Crime scene technician Stephens, who attended the autopsy and recovered two spent bullets from the murder victim's head (F 28-30); (5) Firearms examiner Williams, who testified that the two bullets recovered from the victim could have been

fired from the first casing located at the park. The gun was up against the victim's jacket when it was fired. The car window was broken by shooting from inside the car (F 47-56); (6) Police officers Bowling and Knowles, who took Craft's first taped statement (F 76-79; 80-83); (7) Deputy sheriffs Hall and detective Sanderson, who took a taped statement of the final version (F 83-87; 88-91); (8) Prior testimony Craft had given in court (F 91-93); and (9) Cassandra Toller, Craft's former girlfriend, who testified that Craft called her and asked her to tell the police that another man named Keith had committed the murder, but she declined to do so (F 128-30).

When the prosecutor wanted to introduce three autopsy photos, even the judge knew the murder was becoming a feature of the trial:

Let me tell you what I don't want this case to get involved in, I don't want this to center around the murder case. I want this case centered around the firearm's case. (F 31).

In addition to the above witnesses, the state introduced physical evidence from the homicide, including: a photo of the dead body, state exhibit 3-D (F 20); a photo of his jacket, state exhibit 3-M, and the jacket itself, state exhibit 13 (F 24); one of the three autopsy photos mentioned above, state exhibit 12-A (F 32); bullets recovered from the victim's head,

state exhibits 31 and 32 (F 30); and the broken window from the girl's car, state exhibit 86 (F 46).

In addition to the above witnesses and physical evidence, the state introduced Craft's two taped statements, state exhibit 20 and 20-A (F 79; 87) which contained all of the unnecessary details about the murder, and which were played to the jury (F 93-110; 112-27).

It is true that Craft's counsel requested that the court give a limiting instruction to the jury (F 110-11), and the judge cautioned the jury as follows:

Ladies and gentlemen, let me tell you before this next statement is played, I previously read to you the charges concerning Mr. Craft. Mr. Craft is on trial today for possession of a firearm by a convicted felon. You're not to not to be concerned with the -- the murder charge or anything like that. Mr. Craft -- that is not an issue as far as you're concerned. It's a one-count information of possession of a firearm by a convicted felon. And that's all we're trying today. You're not to be concerned about any other charges (F 111-12).

But that instruction did nothing to "unring the bell" that the jury had already heard. The jury must have been wondering throughout the trial what happened to the murder charge, for after it returned its verdict, the court then informed the jury Craft had been convicted of first degree murder (F 161-62).

Although the issue is not well-preserved, because Craft

did not move for a mistrial during the trial when the homicide became a feature, Craft requests that a new trial be awarded in the interest of justice.

# 1 N

The analogy to the <u>Williams</u> Rule cases is obvious. Evidence of other crimes is admissible if it is relevant to prove a fact in issue. §90.404(2)(a), Fla. Stat.; and <u>Williams v. State</u>, 110 So. 2d 654 (Fla. 1959). Here, the prosecutor asserted and the judge agreed that the homicide was relevant to show that Craft had a gun. However, if the prejudicial value of the evidence outweighs its probative value, it should be excluded. §90.403, Fla. Stat.; and <u>Bryan</u> v. State, 533 So. 2d 744 (Fla. 1988).

Moreover, the collateral crime evidence cannot be allowed to become a feature of the trial -- that is, it becomes more important than the crime for which the defendant is actually on trial. Williams v. State, 117 So. 2d 473, 475-76 (Fla. 1960):

Inasmuch as evidence of the later crime was admissible only because of its relevancy to the identity of the accused and the murder weapon and the similarity of the pattern defined in the two incidents, the question then arises whether or not the state was permitted to go too far in introduction of testimony about the later crime so that the inquiry transcended the boundaries of relevancy to the charge being tried, and made the later offense a feature instead of an incident. (emphasis added).

See also State v. Lee, 531 So. 2d 133, 137 (Fla. 1988): "The improper collateral crime evidence was given undue emphasis by the state and was made a focal point of the trial."

Karalina 🙀

Even though Craft did not make this argument below, reversal is required when unpreserved prosecutorial overkill deprives a defendant of a fair trial. See, e.g., Pacifico v. State, 642 So. 2d 1178 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994). Craft deserves that remedy here.

#### V CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing, this Court should answer the certified question in the negative and approve the decision of the lower tribunal. In addition, this Court should reverse all of the judgments and sentence and grant Craft new trials because the motion to suppress should have been granted, because an insufficient Nelson inquiry can never be harmless error, and because the prosecutor was guilty of overkill.

Respectfully Submitted,

NANCY A. DANIELS
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

Rudery Bulineye

P. DOUGLAS BRINKMEYER

Fla. Bar No. 197890

Assistant Public Defender
Chief, Appellate Intake
Division

Leon County Courthouse Suite 401 301 South Monroe Street Tallahassee, Fl. 32301 (904) 488-2458

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